NO. SC01-2206

In The SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RICHARD WARNER, et al.

Plaintiffs and Moving Parties

VS.

CITY OF BOCA RATON,

Defendant and Responding Party.

On Certification from the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit

INITIAL BRIEF OF PLAINTIFFS AND MOVING PARTIES

Douglas Laycock
727 E. Dean Keeton St.

Austin, TX 78705
512-232-1341
Texas Bar No. 12065300
James K. Green
James K. Green, P.A.
222 Lakeview Ave., Suite 1630
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
561-659-2029
Florida Bar No. 229466

Lynn G. Waxman, P.A.

Charlotte H. Danciu
Charlotte H. Danciu, P.A.

501 South Flagler Drive
Suite 505

West Palm Beach, FL 33401

South Florida Bar No. 795010

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. The Certified Questions

This case presents questions of Florida law, certified by the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit. The underlying federal case is a suit to enjoin enforcement of certain cemetery regulations of the City of Boca Raton. Pursuant to these regulations, the city has threatened to remove crosses, statues of saints, Stars of David, and religious grave coverings maintained by Christian and Jewish families who have buried loved ones in the cemetery.

Plaintiffs have presented two claims under Florida law: that enforcement of the city's regulations as now interpreted would violate first the Florida Religious Freedom Restoration Act, §761.01 *et seq.*, Fla. Stat. (2001) (Florida RFRA), and second, the Florida Free Exercise Clause, Art. I, §3, Fla. Const. The Eleventh Circuit has certified a threshold question of statutory interpretation under Florida RFRA, and it has invited comment on the Florida Constitution.

The questions as certified by the Eleventh Circuit (to which we shall suggest some modifications) are as follows:

1. Does the Florida Religious Freedom Restoration Act broaden, and to what extent does it broaden, the definition of what constitutes religiously motivated conduct protected by law beyond the conduct con-sidered protected by the decisions of the United States Supreme Court?

2. If the Act does broaden the parameters of protected religiously motivated conduct, will a city's neutral, generally-applicable ordinance be subjected to strict scrutiny by the courts when the ordinance prevents persons from acting in conformity with their sincerely held religious beliefs, but the acts the persons wish to take are not 1) asserted or implied in relatively unambiguous terms by an authoritative sacred text, or 2) clearly and consistently affirmed in classic formulations of doctrine and practice, or 3) observed continuously, or nearly so, throughout the history of the religion, or 4) consistently observed in the tradition in recent times?

2001 WL 1153220 at *4 (emphasis added).

Plaintiffs respectfully suggest that the essence of the two certified questions is the italicized portion of Question 2. State-law questions have been certified because only this Court is authoritative on state law. It would neither be authori-tative, nor necessary to either Court's decision, for this Court to identify what religiously motivated conduct is protected by federal law. It is not necessary to define state law by comparison to that standard; we believe that this Court should define state law directly. In any event, the differences between Florida RFRA and federal free exercise law do not lie in the definition of religious exercise, but in the range of governmental actions against which religious exercise is protected.

The Eleventh Circuit did not formally certify a question of state constitutional law. But it said that its phrasing of the questions is not meant to restrict this Court's "response to the questions or its analysis of the state law questions, *including state constitutional questions*, posed by this case. " *Id.* (emphasis added). We would

formulate the state constitutional questions as follows:

What are the standards of judicial review under the Florida Free Exercise Clause? In particular:

- 1) What religious practices are protected? Is it conduct motivated by sincere religious belief, or should the proposed four-part test be read into the Constitution?
- 2) What are the forms of state action against which religious exercise is protected? Does the Free Exercise Clause apply to any law, or only to laws that are not "neutral and generally applicable"?
- 3) What are the possible justifications for laws that prohibit or penalize the free exercise of religion? Is it any compelling governmental interest, or only compelling interests in "public morals, peace, and safety," or any interest in "public morals, peace, and safety," without regard to its importance?

2. Procedural History

Plaintiffs filed this case in a Florida state court, and the city removed to federal court. R-1.¹ The case was certified as a class action, R-37, and tried to the court. The federal district court entered judgment for the city. R-97. That court found that

¹ The record is cited R-Document-Page, except that regulations are cited to section number instead of page number, and exhibits are cited by exhibit number. Thus, R-1-3 would mean Record, Document 1, Page 3.

plaintiffs placed religious symbols on graves in observance of sincerely held religious beliefs, 64 F. Supp. 2d 1272, 1277 (S.D. Fla. 1999) (R-96-6), but it held that this religiously motivated conduct is not religious exercise within the meaning of Florida RFRA, *id.* at 1286-87 (R-96 at 29-30).

The principal legal issue, at trial and on appeal, was the interpretation of the Florida RFRA, and in particular, of that Act's definition of "exercise of religion":

"Exercise of religion" means an act or refusal to act that is substantially motivated by a religious belief, whether or not the religious exercise is compulsory or central to a larger system of religious belief.

§761.02(3), Fla. Stat. (2001). The federal district court held that "substantially motivated" is "too broad," and that the whether-or-not clause adds to the definition the four-part test set out in the second certified question. 64 F. Supp. 2d at 1281 (R-96-16). This test was proposed by the city's expert witness, and adopted by the court. Plaintiffs were required to prove not only that their conduct was substantially motivated by religious belief--that is undisputed--but also that their conduct has been unambiguously affirmed in a sacred text or classic statements of the faith, or that it has been universally practiced by adherents of the faith through time or space. The court held that plaintiffs had not satisfied this four-part test.

Plaintiffs appealed. The primary question briefed was the meaning of Florida RFRA's definition of "exercise of religion," and the evidence tending to show that the

competing interpretations of that definition were or were not satisfied.

The federal district court also held that the regulations do not violate the Florida Free Exercise Clause. It reached this conclusion by first holding that the regulations do not violate the federal Free Exercise Clause, 64 F. Supp. 2d at 1288 (R-96-33); it then summarily rejected all Florida constitutional claims on the ground that Florida constitutional law has "generally" followed federal constitutional law. *Id.* at 1295 (R-96-48). The court rejected the federal claim on the ground that, under the federal law of free exercise, even the most severe restrictions on religious exercise require no justification if they are imposed by a neutral and generally applicable law. *Employment Div. v. Smith*, 494 U.S. 872 (1990). 64 F. Supp. 2d at 1288 (R-96-33). As noted, the court then assumed that this Court would adopt the same narrow interpretation of the Florida Constitution.

3. Statement of Facts

A. Plaintiffs' Exercise of Religion

At various times from 1984 to 1996, plaintiffs purchased plots in the city's cemetery and buried one or more close relatives there. *Id.* at 1277 (R-96-6). On the graves, each family placed religious symbols that rise above the level of the ground or grave coverings that extend beyond the head of the plot. *Id.*

It is undisputed that plaintiffs placed these religious symbols and grave coverings

in observance of sincerely held religious beliefs. *Id.* The Jewish plaintiffs covered the graves "in observance of a Jewish tradition that grave sites are to be protected and never walked upon." Id. The Catholic plaintiffs placed statues of Jesus or the saints, and for a deceased infant, a cross and a statue of two children playing. *Id.* (R-96-7). Plaintiff Karram, a Protestant of Greek Orthodox extraction, placed a standing cross. *Id.* (R-96 at 6-7). Some of the Christian plaintiffs covered the graves, believing that graves are sacred and not to be walked on. *Id.* (R-96-7). These findings are amply supported; plaintiffs testified to the religious significance of the symbols they had placed, and to the intensity of their religious experiences. Plaintiffs and their experts testified to the origins of these beliefs and practices in their respective religious traditions, and the city's experts confirmed much of that testimony. This factual testimony is carefully reviewed in the briefs in the Eleventh Circuit. Br. of Appellants 32-49; Reply Br. 9-16.

The city has not disputed that plaintiffs' conduct is substantially motivated by religious belief. Nor has the city disputed that plaintiffs' conduct grows out of their respective religious traditions. Rather, the city has argued that these religious beliefs are personal to the plaintiffs, not required by Christianity or Judaism and not universal among Christians or Jews, and that such "personal" religious beliefs are not protected. This disagreement frames the question certified by the Eleventh Circuit: is it enough

to trigger inquiry under Florida's RFRA that plaintiffs' conduct was substantially motivated by religious belief, or must their conduct also satisfy the four-part test proposed by the city's expert witness?

B. The Theological Experts

The city's argument forced each side to offer expert testimony on religious burial practices; half the trial was devoted to competing interpretations of Christian and Jewish teaching and practice on human burial from ancient times to the present. Plaintiffs' experts testified that plaintiffs were following longstanding religious traditions of their respective faiths. Pl. Ex. 38, 44, 46. The city's experts reluctantly conceded that most of these traditions exist. But they said that these traditions were not sufficiently required, essential, or integral to deserve legal protection. Def. Ex. 51, 52.

All the experts agreed that religious practice and tradition is diverse and that it exists at multiple levels. These levels were variously referred to as high tradition and low tradition, high tradition and little tradition, law and custom, center and periphery, requirements and preferences. Thus the city's expert Dr. Nathan Katz confined himself to identifying "the requirements" of Catholicism, Protestantism, Judaism, and Islam. Def. Ex. 52 at 1. He testified that the minimum requirements of each faith could be satisfied by grave markers flush with the ground. *Id.* at 1-6. Dr. Katz defended his focus on "requirements" by elaborating the distinction between "high traditions" and

"little traditions":

By "high tradition" is meant the textual-legal side of a religion, usually male dominated and church or synagogue-centered. By "little tradition" is meant the folkways and home-centered observances, usually orally rather than textually transmitted, often the domain of women in a traditional culture.

Another way of making this distinction would be by using the concepts of "by law" and "by custom."

Id. at 6-7. In Dr. Katz's view, the law should protect only the male-dominated high tradition, the "textual-legal side of a religion." *See id.*

The city's other expert was Dr. Daniel Pals. He testified that Florida's RFRA protects only those religious practices that are "essential and integral" to a religious tradition. Def. Ex. 51 at 1-5. He then proposed his four-part test for identifying which practices are essential and integral. *Id.* at 5. His factual testimony addressed his four-part test. He testified that "vertical" grave monuments are not required by Christian or Jewish scripture or classic texts, that neither Christians nor Jews have consistently erected such monuments throughout history, and that neither Christians nor Jews consistently erect such monuments throughout the world today. *Id.* at 5-18. The federal district court adopted Dr. Pals' four-part test verbatim, 64 F. Supp. 2d at 1285 (R-96 at 24-25), and adopted the conclusions of his factual testimony, *id.* at 1286-87 (R-96 at 27-30).

Asked about Dr. Katz's distinction between high and low religious traditions, Dr.

Pals said he preferred the language of "center and periphery," but that he did not disagree with anyone who expressed the point in terms of high and low tradition. R-108-768. He conceded that religious scholars generally view the high and low religious traditions as equally important:

Q. (by Mr. Green) Is it not the case that in American religious studies popular religious practice is regarded as having the same value and importance as high church based religion?

A. Yes. If you are asking does it have the same value, yes.

R-108-775.

Plaintiffs' witnesses confirmed that the "low" religious tradition is an important or even dominant part of religious practice. Dr. Winifred Fallers Sullivan, plaintiffs' expert on American religious practice, said "religion scholars would largely agree" that:

[A]uthentic religious practices include both those founded in textually based doctrine taught by institutionalized hierarchies as well as in folk traditions and customs passed down through families and communities.

Pl. Ex. 46 at 1. She said that the grave-marking practices here "may all be considered important religious practices in the context of a particular individual's religious life." *Id.* at 3. "This is what American religion scholars would under-stand as right at the center of American religious practice." R-108 at 820-21.

Rabbi Michael Broyde, plaintiffs' expert on Jewish practice, testified that both law and custom are essential to Judaism, and that burial practices have been largely left

to custom. Pl. Ex. 38 at 1.

To examine Judaism in a way that is limited to its legal traditions and only protect those faith-grounded rituals and rites that the Jewish faith labels "law", rather than "tradition", would be a vast misunderstanding of the Jewish faith, and improper.

Id. He testified to a Jewish custom of covering graves with one or more stones, *id.* at 3-4, and to Jewish law that prohibits the removal or reduction in size of a tombstone once placed, *id.* at 5.

Dr. John McGuckin, plaintiffs' expert on Christian practice, repeatedly rejected the distinction between high and low tradition as "inappropriate," "invalid," and one that "verges on the offensive". R-107 at 614-15, 622, 628.

I tend to think there is only popular religious practice and, therefore-although these, for example, these statues are not high art or intellectual theological statements, I think they are very profound representations of Christian practice, and to deny it touches, I think, rights of religious expression.

R-107-628.

Dr. McGuckin placed plaintiffs' crosses and statues in a long Christian tradition of marking graves with standing crosses and standing tombstones. Pl. Ex. 44 at 4-5. He explained the custom of covering graves or marking the edges of graves as derived from the Christian view that a grave is a sacred space and should not be walked on. He viewed grave coverings as a religious response to the fear that in an increasingly

secularized culture, the historic Christian respect for the grave would be violated. *Id.* at 7; R-107-630.

There was one other striking point of agreement between the experts--that the city's cemetery regulations substitute a highly secularized symbolism of death for the traditional Christian symbolism of death. Dr. McGuckin stated:

The rules and regulations of Boca Raton cemetery, forbidding anything but a flat memorial stone, seem to me to represent a distinctly secularised and hyper-individualised consciousness that appears to presume a view of death, and the dead body, as spent commodity, and of the grave as a place where only temporary remembrance of immediate family members needs to be preserved.

Pl. Ex. 44 at 2. In contrast, the Christian tradition treats "the dead body as a sacred thing," and "the gravesite as a hallowed place." *Id.* at 3. The grave becomes "a place of prayer to teach the living how to prepare for their own deaths, as well as a place where they can pray for their dead." *Id.* at 4. "The Resurrection of the Body is a fundamental tenet of Christianity," *id.*, and the buried body therefore "rests in anticipation of the resurrection." *Id.* at 5.

Dr. Katz, the city's expert, testified that the city's rules symbolically negate these Christian traditions. Describing the symbolic significance of the shift from "traditional monuments" to "the in-ground plaque or marker," he said:

[T]hese markers represent a changing attitude among Americans towards death. The new ideal is "reconciliation with the natural environment."

Traditional monuments, on the other hand, stressed the individuality of the deceased and tended to "elicit the very sense of the continued presence of the dead that the landscaped cemetery *by design is meant to suppress.*" As death is relegated to the further reaches of American consciousness, the individuality of monuments is being discouraged.

Def. Ex. 52 at 7-8 (emphasis added) (citations omitted). In Dr. McGuckin's account of the Christian view, the dead are present and awaiting the resurrection; in Dr. Katz's account of the city's cemetery rules, expression of that view is to be deliberately suppressed. The dead are not to rise again, but are to be "reconciled" with the natural environment. In the Christian view, the grave is a focal point for prayer, and for reflection on one's own inevitable death; in Dr. Katz's account of the city's cemetery rules, death is to be put out of public view.

Both Christian and Jewish plaintiffs gave moving testimony of their personal experience of their religious views of burial. These plaintiffs pray at the grave sites, speak to their deceased loved ones at the grave sites, teach their children about the resurrection at the grave sites. Even the city's experts acknowledged that these religious symbols are religiously important *to the plaintiffs*. This testimony is reviewed in Br. of Appellants 50-53.

C. The Challenged Regulations

Considerable time at trial and on appeal was devoted to the question of retroactive enforcement of the city's regulations. This goes principally to the severity

of the burden on plaintiffs' religious practices, not to interpreting the definition of religious exercise. It can therefore be briefly summarized.

The provisions principally at issue are Articles IX(2) and XIV(2) of the cemetery regulations, and their supporting provisions and definitions. The 1982 and 1988 versions of these regulations are R-78; the 1996 version is R-69. The changes over time are closely analyzed in Br. of Appellants 5-8. These regulations depend on technical and changing definitions, of distinctions among "objects," "ornaments," "articles," "markers," "memorials," and "monuments." The 1996 version prohibits any article, R-69-§IX(2), including crosses and statues, *id.* §I(1), with exceptions for approved flower vases, *id.* §IX(1), and for any small articles for a week at a time around any of fourteen holidays, *id.* §IX(2). The rules also prohibit any monument or memorial that rises above the ground, *id.* §XIV(2), and any flat marker that extends beyond the head of a plot, *see id.* §I(13).

Plaintiffs argue that important parts of these rules, including the prohibition on crosses and statues, were introduced by substantive amendment in 1996. Br. of Appellants 5-8; Reply Br. 17-21. The city argues that the repeated amendments had little effect and that the rules always meant substantially what they now say. Br. of Appellees 6-10. It is undisputed that the city did not enforce its current interpretation of the rules for many years. In 1998, the city acknowledged that "For some years the

City has not enforced its regulations." R-107-518. Evidence of general non-enforcement is reviewed in Br. of Appellants 9-12; Reply Br. 17.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Florida's RFRA defines the religious exercise that it protects:

"Exercise of religion" means an act or refusal to act that is substantially motivated by a religious belief, whether or not the religious exercise is compulsory or central to a larger system of religious belief.

§761.02(3), Fla. Stat. (2001). In the teeth of this definition, the federal district court held that "substantially motivated" is too broad, and that the whether-or-not clause adds a second element to the definition. 64 F. Supp. 2d at 1281 (R-96-16). That second element is the proposed four-part test, under which plaintiffs must show that their religious practice is specifically directed by an authoritative text or universally practiced in Christianity or Judaism. This test paraphrases the compulsory-or-central rule that the statute expressly negates.

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