IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC01-2206

RICHARD AND MIRIAM WARNER, et al.,

Appellants,

vs.

CITY OF BOCA RATON,

Appellee.

On Certified Questions from the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit

APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF

BRUCE ROGOW BEVERLY A. POHL BRUCE S. ROGOW, P.A. Broward Financial Centre, Suite 1930 500 East Broward Boulevard Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33394 (954) 767-8909

Counsel for the City of Boca Raton

NAMED PARTIES NOT APPEARING ON COVER PAGE

(All are Appellants)

ELEANOR DANCIU

EMIL DANCIU

JOANNE DAVIS

SOUHAIL KARRAM

CARIDAD MONIER

BOBBIE PAYNE

IAN PAYNE

LOUISE RICCOBONO

MARIE RICCOBONO

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Certified Question case from the United States Court of Appeals requires the Court to construe the language of the Florida Religious Freedom Restoration Act, §§ 761.01, *et seq.* (Florida RFRA), in the context of a challenge to various Rules and Regulations of the 10,000-plot Boca Raton Municipal Cemetery. The City Cemetery Rules and Regulations, in effect since 1982, prohibit vertical monuments or decorations on grave sites, instead requiring horizontal grave markers in the "memorial park"-style secular cemetery. (Certain days of remembrance are set aside in the Regulations, and temporary vertical decorations are permitted on those days). "Memorial park" cemeteries are common, and are maintained by Catholic and Jewish organizations as well as in private and municipal cemeteries.

The Appellants, all of whom purchased plots while the horizontal-marker rule has been in effect, have installed and constructed vertical grave site decorations that violate the Cemetery Regulations (*see* photographs in Appendix C to this Brief). Appellants contend that, under the Florida RFRA, because the decorations express sincerely held religious beliefs, the Regulations must give way to Appellants' personal preferences for vertical grave decorations, including statuary, benches, plants, rocks, ropes, and edging stones. The United States Court of Appeals recognized that the scope of the Florida RFRA has "wide ranging and profound implications in Florida." 267 F.3d at 1227. The City asserts that Florida law does not, as the Appellants contend, give any and all claims of religious free exercise preference over neutral laws of general application, and that the City's horizontal marker Regulation, which permits religious emblems, does not impose a substantial burden on Appellants' free exercise of religion.

The Florida RFRA broadens the definition of what constitutes religiously motivated conduct, expanding federal decisions that have required religiously motivated conduct to be "compulsory or central" to a larger system of religious belief in order to warrant constitutional protection. The Florida RFRA does not limit its protection to conduct that is "compulsory or central" to a larger system of religious belief. However, the statute does not, by its terms, protect any and all religiously motivated conduct, and does not require strict scrutiny unless governmental action substantially burdens the exercise of religion. See § 761.02(2), Fla. Stat. Any other construction of the statute would generally disable government from enforcing neutral laws of general application vis á vis any idiosyncratic claims of religious free exercise, if those claims were based upon a sincerely held belief. This Court should either adopt the four-part test utilized by the United States District Court in determining whether the Regulations were a "substantial burden" on the exercise of religion, or fashion some other test to measure the substantiality of the burden. Since the statute only requires strict scrutiny of regulations that impose a substantial burden on religious free exercise, courts must have some framework for measuring that burden. Otherwise, if the Florida RFRA is construed to provide a preference for any and all religiously motivated conduct, the statute would run afoul of the Establishment Clause of the First Amendment. (Any potential Establishment Clause issues are not before this Court, but would be presented to the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit after remand, if necessary).

Appellants have also asked the Court to consider whether Article I, Section 3 of the Florida Constitution demands strict scrutiny of all laws affecting claimed religiously motivated conduct. The City suggests that the Court should decline to address the Florida Constitutional issue, which is not squarely presented by the Certified Questions, or, because there is no precedent supporting the claim that the Florida Constitution provides any greater protection for religious free exercise than does the Florida RFRA, the Court should reject Appellants' Florida Free Exercise argument. Both the United States District Court and the Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit correctly rejected the notion that the Regulations are invalid under the Florida Constitution's Free Exercise Clause.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE FLORIDA RFRA'S REQUIREMENT THAT ACTS "SUBSTANTIALLY MOTIVATED BY A RELIGIOUS BELIEF" MAY NOT BE "SUBSTANTIALLY BURDEN[ED]," ABSENT A COMPELLING GOVERNMENTAL INTEREST, DOES NOT MEAN THAT ALL PERSONAL METHODS OF RELIGIOUS EXPRESSION ARE EXEMPT FROM NEUTRAL LAWS OF GENERAL APPLICABILITY

A. <u>THE CERTIFIED QUESTIONS AND THE CITY'S</u> <u>PROPOSED ANSWERS TO THE CERTIFIED QUESTIONS</u>

<u>1.</u> <u>Question One</u>

The United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit has certified two

questions to this Court. The first question is:

Does the Florida Religious Freedom Restoration Act broaden, and to what extent does it broaden, the definition of what constitutes religiously motivated conduct protected by law beyond the conduct considered protected by the decisions of the United States Supreme Court?

The answer to the first certified question is "yes," the Florida Religious Freedom Restoration Act broadens the definition of what constitutes religiously motivated conduct protected by law beyond the conduct considered protected by the decisions of the United States Supreme Court. Indeed, it was the purpose of the Florida RFRA to do so when it defined the exercise of religion as "an act or refusal to act that is substantially motivated by a religious belief, whether or not the religious exercise is compulsory or central to a larger system of religious belief." § 761.02(3), Fla. Stat.

Supreme Court free exercise decisions have looked to the religious importance of the acts or refusals to act. See e.g., Wisconsin v. Yoder, 406 U.S. 205, 218, 92 S. Ct. 1526, 1534, 32 L.Ed.2d 15 (1972) (compulsory school attendance until age 16 required the Amish "to perform acts undeniably at odds with fundamental tenets of their religious beliefs."). Later, the Supreme Court's decision in *Employment Div.*, Dept. of Human Resources of Oregon v. Smith, 494 U.S. 872, 110 S.C. 1595, 108 L.Ed.2d 876 (1990), held that the First Amendment's Free Exercise Clause did not exempt individuals from complying with "neutral, generally applicable" laws, even if the laws incidental effect substantially burdened religious exercise. 494 U.S. at 881. That decision led to the legislative initiatives resulting in the passage of the federal RFRA (42 U.S.C. § 2000bb et seq.), which was declared unconstitutional as applied to the states (City of Boerne v. Flores, 521 U.S. 507, 117 S. Ct. 2157, 138 L.Ed.2d 624 (1997)), which in turn led to the Florida legislature's enactment of the Florida RFRA.

The extent to which the Florida RFRA broadens the free exercise definition is

this: it goes beyond the *Employment Division v. Smith* decision and subjects neutral laws of general applicability to a statutory free exercise analysis, and the religiously motivated act or refusal to act need not be compulsory or central to the religion, as required by pre-*Smith* federal precedents. However, the Florida RFRA, while rejecting the need to show centrality or compulsoriness, *does not protect any and all* religiously motivated conduct, because it does not say that "any" religious act or refusal to act triggers strict scrutiny.

<u>2.</u> <u>Question Two</u>

The second question is:

If the Act does broaden the parameters of protected religiously motivated conduct, will a city's neutral, generally-applicable ordinance be subjected to strict scrutiny by the courts when the ordinance prevents persons from acting in conformity with their sincerely held religious beliefs, but the acts the persons wish to take are not 1) asserted or implied in relatively unambiguous terms by an authoritative sacred text, or 2) clearly and consistently affirmed in classic formulations of doctrine and practice, or 3) observed continuously, or nearly so, throughout the history of the religion, or 4) consistently observed in the tradition in recent times?

The answer to the second certified question is "no." A city's neutral, generally

applicable law will not be subjected to strict scrutiny when the law prevents persons from acting in conformity with their sincerely held religious beliefs if the acts the person takes are purely personal preferences, and not (1) asserted or implied in relatively unambiguous terms by an authoritative sacred text, or (2) clearly and consistently affirmed in classic formulations of doctrine and practice, or (3) observed continuously, or nearly so, throughout the history of the religion, or (4) consistently observed in the tradition in recent times.

Whether the stated four factors are used, or some other standards, the important point is that under the Florida RFRA there must be some way to separate out religiously motivated personal preferences from acts which, if precluded, would constitute a substantial burden on religious free exercise. If there were not such a mechanism, the Florida RFRA would allow neutral laws of general applicability to be trumped (absent a compelling governmental interest) by anyone merely asserting that their acts were "substantially motivated by a religious belief."

In the context of this municipal cemetery case, for example, any religiously motivated person could erect a fifty-foot vertical cross at a grave site on public property, and the City's neutral, generally applicable regulation limiting grave markings in the municipal cemetery to horizontal markers would not be enforceable. By way of comparison, since the federal RFRA now contains free exercise language like the Florida RFRA's (*see* discussion, *infra* at p. 33), under the Appellants' construct the neutral, generally applicable height restrictions at Arlington National Cemetery (which allows vertical symbols of limited height) (R3-110, Expansion Folder # 4, Pl. Exh. 37, pp. 9, 38), could be ignored by a religiously motivated veteran's family that wanted a fifty-foot cross or Star of David.

The Appellants' RFRA statutory construct would lead to those absurd and anarchic results.⁶ Since that cannot be the law, the four-factor test applied by the United States District Court, or something similar, must be part of the application of the Florida RFRA. Contrary to the Appellants' view that no free exercise inquiry can be made once a person establishes that his or her act or refusal to act is substantially motivated by religious beliefs, courts have the duty to fashion mechanisms in order to determine how laws are to be applied. The First Amendment simply states that "Congress shall make no law . . . ," but there are a variety of tests that are used to apply that directive. *See, e.g., Central Hudson Gas & Electric Corp. v. Public Serv. Comm'n of New York*, 447 U.S. 557, 566 100 S. Ct. 2343, 65 L.Ed 2d 341 (1980)

⁶ The potential for religious tyranny over duly enacted neutral laws of general application is, of course, not limited to the cemetery context. *All* state, county, city, and other governmental laws and regulations in Florida would be unenforceable against any idiosyncratic claim of religiously motivated conduct, if the Appellants' construct of RFRA were to be accepted. *See Amicus Curiae* Brief of the Florida League of Cities, filed in support of Appellee.

(four-part test for commercial speech); *Miller v. California*, 413 U.S. 15, 93 S. Ct. 2607, 37 L.Ed.2d 419 (1973) (three-part test for obscenity); *Ward v. Rock Against Racism*, 491 U.S. 781, 109 S. Ct. 2746, 105 L.Ed.2d 661 (1989) (reasonable time, place, and manner test for restrictions on speech in a public forum); *Lemon v. Kurtzman*, 403 U.S. 602, 91 S. Ct. 2105, 29 L.Ed.2d 745 (1971) (criteria for determining violation of the Establishment Clause). Similarly, fashioning a test to aid in the application of the Florida RFRA is appropriate and necessary and not inconsistent with decisional law.

We turn to the reasons that the answers proposed by the City are the proper answers to the Certified Questions.

<u>B.</u> <u>CEMETERY ANARCHY</u>

The Appellants and their *amici* contend that once a person establishes that his or her act or refusal to act is "substantially motivated by a religious belief," the Florida RFRA free exercise inquiry ends: any such act or refusal to act then cannot be prohibited absent a compelling governmental interest. The Appellants contend that prohibiting vertical grave decorations is a "substantial burden" on their exercise of religion because it completely precludes the vertical decorative grave embellishments the Appellants desire. The Appellants are seeking Florida RFRA protection for a variety of vertical lawn decorations (edging stones, gardenia bushes, crotons, trees, statues, posts with ropes, cement planters) in addition to Christian crosses and Stars of David. Appendix C to this Brief contains illustrative photographs of grave sites not in compliance with the Cemetery Rules and Regulations. There is absolutely no religious significance to most of the vertical decorations, even though the Appellants have attempted to clothe their decorations with personal religious significance.

Appellant Carrie Monier admitted that the cement planters, crotons, gardenias, wood chips, and posts with ropes on her brother's grave have no religious significance to her (R4-27-30), but later amended her testimony to say that she enclosed the "grave site to protect it from people walking over it, and machinery and things like that. Because of respect, my beliefs, my religion, my practice." *Id.* at 31-32.

A Catholic plaintiff, asked if there was religious significance to the edging stones and other stones on her father's grave, said, "No, there isn't," and as to the planted flowers placed on the grave, she said they symbolized "life going on and the life that my father made and the grandchildren and everything." R4-190.

A Plaintiff's expert, a professor of early church history at Union Theological Seminary, was asked whether plantings on a grave site have independent religious significance. He responded:

A. [JOHN McGUCKIN]: It doesn't have ancient Christian significance but it obviously has some resonance with their spiritual experience of bereavement.

> And as far as I have thought about this and spoken with the bereaved families . . . the planting of things is some kind of comfort and a symbol of life. So I suppose it is a religious symbol on the wider parameters of religious symbolism.

R7-648. He saw no religious significance in cement planters (*id.* at 651), and as to the edging stone perimeter grave markers, which served to make grave sites visible, he agreed that "verticality is not necessary to provide visibility." ⁷ Asked about the "religious significance" of plastic windmills and toys placed on grave sites, he responded:

A. Yes, I think that's correct. (R4-143).

⁷ Another Plaintiffs' expert, Rabbi Broyde, acknowledged that there is no independent significance to vertical marking of Jewish graves. Although Jews have a tradition of marking graves to deter people from walking on the graves, horizontal markers suffice:

Q [MR. ROGOW]: Let me see if I have it right. If a municipality that is opening a cemetery has a rule that says only horizontal markers shall be placed at a grave site that would not burden any Jewish religion tradition or law?

A. I wouldn't like to say anything at all about windmills because I just wondered what they meant. I've never seen that before, I must confess. In terms of the child's toys it struck me as a very clear and typical example of the special grieving processes of mothers deprived of small children.

> If you were to ask me is that a religious thing, the child's toy is there, rubber ducks and frogs as far as I remember – I would agree that it certainly isn't in the classical Canon of Christian symbols this any way at all. But I start getting a little bit edgy in trying to make a clear line between the deep felt grief of that mother and how she wants to express it.

Id. at 653.

Professor McGuckin confronted the issue in this case in this colloquy:

Q. [MR. ROGOW]: Is it your position that whatever one says is woven together with one's religious beliefs therefore is entitled to

> be placed or put on a grave site at the Boca Raton cemetery?

- A. No, certainly not.
- Q. Where do you draw the line?
- A. I don't know. I've never considered the issue. I've come at it primarily from the viewpoint of a Christian theological looking at historical precedent and so on.

Id. at 656.

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